# Supreme Court of Florida

RONALD HEATH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

**Case No. SC07-771** 

Capital Case Eighth Circuit/Alachua County L.T. Case No. 1989-CF-3026

#### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT AUGUSTUS HARPER Harper & Harper Law Firm, P.A. 325 West Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301-1413 (850) 224-5900/fax (850) 224-9800 FL Bar No. 127600/GA Bar No. 328360

ROBERT AUGUSTUS HARPER, III Harper & Harper Law Firm, P.A. FL Bar No. 0881791

Counsel for Appellant **HEATH** 

### A.

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

- 1. Statement of the Case and Course of Trial Proceedings.
- a. Statement of the Case.

The indictment herein was returned in the Eighth Judicial Circuit Court for Alachua County and filed on 12 July 1989 charging Appellant Ronald Palmer Heath and his brother Kenneth Heath with one count of first degree murder and one count of robbery with a firearm. (R-23). Later, the State filed an amended information charging both with one count of conspiracy to commit forgery, two counts of grand theft, nine counts of uttering a forged instrument, and nine counts of forgery by use of a credit card. (R-202-208). On motion of the defense, the charges were consolidated. (R-166-67, 193).

Appellant Heath alone proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robert P. Cates. At the close of the State's case, the court granted motion for judgment of acquittal as to one count of credit card forgery, one count of uttering, and two counts of grand theft. (R-310). The jury found Appellant Heath guilty of the first-degree premeditated murder, armed robbery, and the seven counts of forgery and seven counts of uttering a forgery. (R-313-317).

At the penalty phase of the trial, the jury, after hearing additional evidence, recommended a sentence of death. (R-427). At the sentencing hearing the trial judge, agreed with the recommendation. The judge concluded the following aggravators outweighed potential mitigators, and Appellant Heath:

1. Had a prior juvenile conviction for second degree murder;

2. Had committed the instant offense murder during the course of a robbery.

(R-456-60).

In mitigation, the court found:

- 1. Appellant Heath was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance.
- 2. Appellant Heath had demonstrated good character while in prison.
- 3. The co-defendant, Kenneth Heath, had been the actual triggerman in the homicide but had been allowed to plead and avoid a death sentence.

As to the other convictions, the judge found Appellant Heath to be an habitual felon (T-2515-16), imposed consecutive sentences including a separate life sentence. (R-446-52, 525-40).

Appellant Heath pursued his direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida raising nine issues: (1) The court erred in overruling Heath's objection to the State's opening statement that the only person who could tell the jury about the murder was Kenny Heath, in violation of his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to remain silent; (2) the trial judge erred in admitting evidence about the victim, Michael Sheridan, that he was a nice person, in violation of Heath's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a fair trial; (3) the court erred in admitting testimony that post arrest Appellant Heath wanted to escape from the Alachua Detention Center; (4) the court erred in refusing to let defense witness Lamar Stodghill testify regarding Heath's working for him, thus tending to establish that Heath had no motive to rob

Sheridan; (5) the judge erred in excluding testimony of witness Penny Powell that Heath said he did not know victim Sheridan's watch was in his suitcase because it was self-serving hearsay; (6) the judge erred in sentencing Appellant Heath to death because he was no more culpable of death than his brother, Kenneth, who plea bargained for a lesser sentence; (7) the trial court erred in giving penalty phase jury instructions which allegedly failed to adequately advise the jury as to the limitations and findings necessary to satisfy the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance; (8) the trial court erred in sentencing Heath as an habitual offender; and (9) § 775.084, Florida Stat. (1988), is impermissibly inequitable, irrational, and vague, in violation of Article I, Sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution, and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Supreme Court affirmed. *Heath v. State*, 648 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1994), *certiorari denied*, 515 U.S. 1162, 115 S. Ct. 2618, 132 L. Ed. 2d 860 (1995).

#### b. Statement of the Trial Facts.

Appellant Heath and his brother, Kenneth Heath, left Jacksonville on Monday, 27 May 1989, for Gainesville. That evening the brothers went to the Purple Porpoise lounge where Appellant saw Jennifer Berquist, an old friend whom he had not seen for a couple of years. (T-786-87). Ms. Berquist was working as a waitress/manager. The brothers spent most of the evening there and by the time the close of business, both were very drunk. (T-790). Ms. Berquist invited them to stay with her.

The next evening, 23 May 1989, Appellant Heath and his brother Kenneth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Case No. 77,234.

Heath returned to the Purple Porpoise about 10 p.m. (T-793, 984). Cynthia Golub was working as a waitress that evening. (T-816). Jennifer Zimble, was working that night as a bartender and gave the two brothers a pitcher of beer. (T-793, 799, 985).

Co-defendant Kenneth Heath sat next to the victim, Michael Sheridan, at the bar and struck up a conversation. (T-824, 986). They discussed baseball<sup>2</sup>. Michael Sheridan offered to buy Kenneth a drink. (T-986). He was in town on business and was driving a rental car. (T-987-90). Sheridan asked Kenneth whether he "got high" and whether he had any marijuana. Kenneth responded that he did not have any marijuana, but his brother, Appellant Heath did. (T-990). According to Kenneth, Appellant asked him where had he gotten his drink. Kenneth told him Michael Sheridan bought it. Sheridan then bought Appellant a drink. (T-999). Appellant Heath told Zimble to put their drinks on the victim's tab. (T-825). Michael Sheridan paid the bar tab with his credit card. (T-832-38). Zimble observed that neither Appellant, nor his co-defendant, were drunk, but that Michael Sheridan appeared to be drunk.

Allegedly, Kenneth informed Appellant Heath that Michael Sheridan wanted to smoke marijuana. Appellant Heath according to Kenneth, stated that if they could get the victim to leave with them, they could rob him of his jewelry. (T-1000). The three men left the bar together shortly after midnight, and Zimble did not see any of them again that night. (T-841).

According to Kenneth, they left Kenneth's car, Appellant driving. (T-1018-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The testimony of co-defendant Heath was largely uncorroborated.

19). They parked on a dirt road, and got out and smoked a joint. Appellant, according to Kenneth, asked "did you get it?", and made a hand motion of a pistol. Kenneth responded, by retrieving a .22 calibre handgun from under the car seat. (T-1020). It was Kenneth, the brother, who pointed the gun at Michael Sheridan and told him that he was being robbed. He ordered Sheridan to take out his wallet and to remove his jewelry. Michael Sheridan stated, "Y'all aren't serious, are you?." According to Kenneth, both responded that they were serious. According to Kenneth, Appellant Heath, ordered Kenneth to "shoot the fucker in the head." But Kenneth went on to testify that it was only after Michael Sheridan lunged at him (Kenneth), that he (Kenneth) shot him in the chest. (T-1021).

According to Kenneth Heath, Michael Sheridan stood back, then sat down on the ground, and exclaimed that "it hurt." Appellant Heath allegedly told Sheridan to give him his wallet and chains. As Sheridan started moving as if he were trying to get his belongings, Appellant Heath, according to Kenneth, started kicking Sheridan. Appellant Heath removed Sheridan's wallet, chains, and watch, but could not find a certain bracelet. Appellant stated to the victim, "You give me the bracelet, and we'll get you to a hospital." (T-1022). Appellant allegedly asked Kenneth to help look for the bracelet. (T-1023).

According to Kenneth, Appellant went to the car to search for the bracelet and returned with a knife. Appellant walked up to Michael Sheridan and, according to Kenneth Heath, tried to cut Michael Sheridan's throat with the knife. Kenneth testified that Appellant jabbed the blade into the throat of Michael Sheridan and attempted to cut. According to Kenneth, Appellant Heath instructed Kenneth to shoot

the victim in the head. So Kenneth shot Michael Sheridan twice more in the head. (T-1023). According to Kenneth, Appellant suggested that they move Sheridan's body. They picked the body up and carried it into the woods. (T-1024-25). Appellant allegedly wiped the knife off and put it back in the car. (T-1025).

The two brothers returned to the Purple Porpoise where they saw Mr. Sheridan's rental car. (T-1026-29). According to Kenneth, Appellant gave Kenneth the car keys and told Kenneth to drive the rental car and follow him. (T-1030). Kenneth drove the rental car to a dirt road, where he and Defendant removed some items before cutting the gas line and setting the rental car afire. (T-1032). The knife, was left in the rental car. (T-1033).

On Wednesday, 24 May 1989, the brothers went to the mall in Gainesville and bought clothes, shoes, and other merchandise using Michael Sheridan's credit cards. (T-1033-36, 1663-96). According to Kenneth, Appellant told Kenneth to sign all of the credit card slips, because Appellant might mess up if he did it. (T-1034-35). Several clerks from the various stores testified about the purchases made by Kenneth Heath and their later identification of him. (T-1701-9, 1710-19, 1728-30, 1734-39). The two spent the night in Gainesville. (T-1037).

The next morning the two continued to use Michael Sheridan's credit card to buy merchandise. (T-1037). When a sales clerk at an audio store became suspicious, they left the store and returned to Jacksonville. (T-1039-40). Once in Jacksonville, according to Kenneth they tossed the handgun into the St. John's River. (T-1042).

Medical Examiner William Frank Hamilton, M.D., was dispatched to the scene of the homicide on 30 May 1989. The victim's body was in a moderately advanced

state of decomposition. (T-1346). Doctor Hamilton, an expert in forensic pathology, estimated the time of death as having been between three and ten days before discovery. He observed three gunshot wounds on the body; two to the head and one to the torso. (T-1336). The next day, Dr. Hamilton performed an autopsy, and determined that the two bullet wounds to the head entered from the front above Michael Sheridan's left eyebrow. The projectiles were recovered from the back of the skull. The third shot was high in the victim's mid-abdomen, just below his chest. That bullet was found at the scene, under the body. (T-1349). Due to the advanced state of decomposition and animal predation, the medical examiner was unable to determine the precise path of the bullet. Considering the location of the wound, he was able to state that it was an extremely important injury. The wound to the torso, was fatal, but perhaps not immediately fatal. (T-1359). Dr. Hamilton opined that the death of the victim was caused by multiple gunshot wounds and the sharp force injury to the neck. (T-1351).

Chain of custody witnesses and crime scene technicians presented photographs and sketches of the crime scene. (T-1299, 1300-05; 1306-08) and several police officers testified to details of the credit card fraud investigation, which led to the arrests. (T-1591-1621, 1629-41, 1642-49, 1650-53).

The defense called police officers who had interviewed Appellant Heath (T-1384-88, 1875-78), plus officers who had participated in related searches. (T-1883-86). Additional details as to Michael Sheridan's jewelry and personal effects were developed. (T-1858-92, 1908-11). Appellant personally was addressed and responded that he did not wish to testify. The defense rested. (T-2031-35).

The State presented rebuttal testimony regarding a related search. (T-2036-37). The State rested. Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (T-2041, 2044-49). Closing arguments were given. (T-2054-2130). The jury was instructed and retired to deliberate. (R-346-69, T-2132-56). The jury found Appellant guilty of first-degree murder and armed robbery of Michael Sheridan. Additionally, they found Appellant guilty of conspiracy to commit uttering a forgery, conspiracy to commit forgery; seven counts of forgery, and seven counts of uttering a forgery. (R-313-17, T-2158-61).

On 27 November 1990, the trial court reconvened for the penalty phase. (T-2183). The trial court instructed the jury as to their role prior to the presentation of evidence. (T-2185-87).

Gerald H. Parker. A detective, testified that he was the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office Homicide Detective who had been assigned to investigate the murder case against Appellant Heath on 17 December 1977. (T-2188-89); when Appellant Heath was seventeen years old. The body of Michael Lee Green, was found a few hundred feet away from his 1973 Ford which had been burned. (T-2190-91). Green had sustained twenty-three stab wounds and had a crushed skull. (T-2192). Detective Parker interviewed Appellant Heath, who was seventeen years old at the time, on 17 December 1977. Appellant cooperated and gave a sworn statement on 22 December 1977, detailing the circumstances of the offense which was admitted into evidence and read to the penalty phase jury. (R-370-419, T-2195-2243). Appellant Heath entered a plea of guilty to second degree murder and was sentenced to thirty years imprisonment in that case. (T-2244). A certified copy of the judgment and sentence

dated 25 April 1977, was entered into evidence. (R-511, T-2244).

**Vivian Heath**. Appellant's mother, and William Palmer Heath, Appellant's father, testified on his behalf at the sentencing hearing. (T-2247-63, 2263-73). Vivian and William described the problems that they began having with Appellant Heath when he was thirteen years old. (T-2250, 2265). After having difficulties with Appellant stealing, skipping school, and staying out late, they took him to a psychologist. (T-2251, 2265). A few weeks before the homicide of Michael Green, Appellant Heath overdosed on drugs. (T-2252, 2266). Both parents agreed that once Appellant was incarcerated, he seemed to adjust well to prison life and used his time constructively to obtain a high school diploma and became involved in a civic organizations. (T-2253-54, 2267).

**Penny Powell.** Met Appellant while she was working at Lake Butler Correctional Institution, where he was incarcerated, in February, 1988. When Appellant was released from prison in November, 1988, he moved in with Powell. (T-2314-16). Powell also testified that the brother, Kenneth Heath, drank excessively and smoked pot and that Appellant Heath and his brother did not get along well. (T-2321-23).

Appellant again waived his right to testify and also waived his right to call Dr. Krop to testify regarding psychological examinations. (T-2331-33). Following these waivers, the defense rested. The State did not present any evidence in rebuttal. The jury received the penalty phase instructions (R-422-26,T-2360-68), and recommended the imposition of the death penalty by a 10-2 vote for the death of Michael Sheridan. (R-427, T-2385-88).

On 10 December 1990, defense counsel presented additional argument against finding the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, and cruel. (T-2398-2401).

The trial court entered the sentencing order of 17 December 1990, (R-452-71, T-2444-60), finding two aggravating factors for the murder of Michael Sheridan:

- 1. The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use of, or threat of, violence to the person. (R-456-58, T-2449-50).
- 2. The murder was committed during the course of an armed robbery. (R-458-60, T-2450-51).

The Court did not find the aggravating circumstance that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R-460, T-2451).

The court found mitigating factors, to-wit:

- 1. The murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.
- 2. Aspects of the defendant's character; behavior in prison was above standard.
- 3. That the co-defendant received a life sentence.

The court rejected as mitigation: (1) the victim was a participant; (2) the defendant was an accomplice and his participation was relatively minor; (3) the defendant acted under the substantial domination of another person; (4) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirement of law was substantially impaired; and (5) the age of the defendant. (R-460-69, T-2453-60).

### 2. Statement of the Case and Facts at Evidentiary Hearing.

The following, summarized, twenty-one claims were presented to the trial judge. Where fairly debatable or supported by some quantum of evidence, the issues will be argued to the Court. Where issues, have been consolidated, reference will be made in footnote. (1) trial counsel were ineffective in developing the testimony of Kenneth Heath as pertains to the penalty phase of the trial; (2) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to completely develop and produce the eyewitness testimony of Kenneth Heath; (3) Kenneth Heath's recanted testimony amounts to newly discovered evidence, which, if introduced at sentencing probably would have resulted in a life sentence; (4) Kenneth Heath's testimony constitutes newly discovered evidence, which introduced during the guilt phase of the trial would probably have resulted in a conviction of a lesser included offense for Petitioner Ronald Heath; (5)defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to present the only viable defense: voluntary intoxication and failed to present sufficient, available evidence that the Defendant was intoxicated as a mitigating circumstance; (6) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to advise and/or failing to properly advise the Defendant regarding the availability of the voluntary intoxication defense; (7) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to raise the mitigating circumstances that the Defendant, Ronald Heath, was suffering from severe antisocial personality disorder; (8) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to

request the voluntary intoxication jury instruction; (9) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to call available expert witnesses to prove that the Defendant acted under the dominion of Codefendant Kenneth Heath; (10) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to call available expert witnesses to prove that the Defendant acted under the dominion of Codefendant Kenneth Heath; (11) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to call certain material witnesses; (12) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing ensure that the Defendant was present during all of the pretrial motion hearings and at the allocution hearing; (13) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to challenge the "committed in the course of a felony" aggravator, in the alternative, the aggravator is an unconstitutional "double"; (14) the State improperly withheld exculpatory information regarding Codefendant Kenneth Heath's actions while being transported by the police from Jacksonville to Gainesville, in violation of *Brady*; (15) a change in the law concerning the proper role of the jury in a penalty phase has occurred since the trial that requires a new penalty phase; (16) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trial by failing to request a special verdict requiring the jury to specifically choose between premeditated murder and felony murder; (17) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to request a special verdict regarding the specific aggravating factors found by the jury; (18) defense counsel rendered

ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to challenge that the indictment was insufficient due to its failure to specifically allege the aggravating circumstances upon which the State intended to rely; (19) trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to file motions to preserve that (a) aggravating circumstances must be pled and proved beyond a reasonable doubt, (b) the judge could not override the jury, and (c) the jury must reach a unanimous verdict; (20) Florida Statute 921.141 is unconstitutional; (21) defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of the trial by failing to argue non-statutory mitigating factors, including but not limited to, Ronald Heath's role was not the dominating force in the commission of the homicide.

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