IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD HEATH,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-771

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

evidentiary hearing on this claim. After the hearing, the court denied the claim in its entirety. The court ruled that:

In this claim, Heath alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert and lay testimony during the penalty phase of the defendant's trial that, at the time of the murder, the defendant acted under the dominion of co-defendant Kenneth Heath. Evidence that the defendant acted under "the substantial domination of another person" is statutory mitigating circumstance. Section 921.141(6)(e), Florida Statutes. It does not appear, however, that the defendant is claiming he acted under the substantial domination of Kenneth Heath so as to rise to the level of a statutory mitigator. Rather, defendant claims that trial counsel ineffective for failing to present available evidence that Ronald Heath acted under the domination of According to the defendant, such Kenneth Heath. evidence would have risen to the level of a nonstatutory mitigator.

The defendant failed to produce any evidence at the evidentiary hearing that he was, at the time of the murder, acting under the dominion, substantial or otherwise, of his brother. Instead, the testimony at both trial and at the evidentiary hearing established that the defendant was, literally, calling the shots on the night of the murder.

At the evidentiary hearing, some five witnesses testified as to this issue. Trial counsel testified he found no evidence to support a conclusion that Kenneth dominated Heath. Trial counsel testified, in fact, he found to the contrary. Heath was older and physically larger than his brother and was mentally quicker and more secure. Based on his interactions with the defendant and with Kenneth Heath, trial counsel found no evidence to suggest that at the time of the murder, Heath was acting under the dominion and control of Kenneth Heath.

Dr. Darren Rothschild also addressed this issue during the evidentiary hearing. Heath retained Dr. Rothschild for the purpose of evaluating Heath during

post-conviction proceedings and testifying at the evidentiary hearing.

Among the issues Dr. Rothschild was asked to address was whether there was any evidence that Heath acted under the substantial domination of co-defendant Kenneth Heath at the time of the murder. Dr. Rothschild provided no testimony that the defendant acted under the substantial domination of another. To the contrary, Dr. Rothschild testified he did not have an opinion that the defendant was under the substantial influence of another person.

Dr. Rothschild testified he did not have an opinion on whether either brother was dominating the other. Dr. Rothschild testified he did not come to the conclusion that Kenneth Heath was controlling the defendant before the murder. He had no opinion on whether Kenneth Heath was controlling the defendant during the murder. Dr. Rothschild testified that when he spoke with Heath's parents, neither of them led him to believe that Kenneth Heath dominated Heath in any way. He did not come to the conclusion that the defendant was easily led by others.

Sheila Short, a correctional officer, testified for the defense. She testified that she was not in a position to observe whether Ronald Heath dominated Kenneth Heath. She also was not in a position to observe whether Kenneth Heath ever dominated Ronald Heath. She did not see any evidence that one was subservient to the other.

She did overhear Kenneth Heath make a statement while he was in jail. She testified that Kenneth Heath at some point said "I fixed his ass this time didn't I." She asked him who he meant, and Kenneth Heath told her "my brother".

She could not say what Kenneth Heath was referring to. According to Ms. Short, Kenneth Heath could have been talking about anything. She did not perceive he was talking about a game of cards, but she did not know. She never heard Kenneth Heath say he was going to lie against his brother at trial.

The defendant's father, William Heath, never really saw any evidence that the defendant dominated his younger brother. He never saw any evidence that Kenneth Heath dominated the defendant. mother, Vivian Heath, testified that when her sons were growing up, neither son dominated the other. never saw them as adults together. Once her sons adulthood, reached she never Kenneth saw Heath dominate Heath nor the defendant dominate his younger brother.

Despite this testimony on direct examination, Mrs. Heath testified during cross-examination she thought Kenneth Heath had the dominating personality of the two brothers. She thought Kenneth Heath was dominating because he had a much stronger personality and the worst temper. Once again, she testified she never saw Kenneth Heath dominate the defendant as an adult. She testified that she could not say to Dr. Rothschild or Dr. Krop that Kenneth Heath dominated Ronald Heath or Ronald Heath dominated Kenneth Heath. (EH Vol. III 378).

Heath's demeanor on the witness Mrs. established that Mrs. Heath wished to portray the defendant to this court in the best possible light in order to save her son's life. Accordingly, this Court gives no weight to her testimony that Kenneth Heath has the dominating personality. Mrs. Heath not only has a motive to save her son's life but had no opportunity to observe her sons interact as adults because they both were in prison. Moreover, Mrs. Heath did not see her sons on night of the murder and has no first hand knowledge of the events leading up to the death of Michael Sheridan. Accordingly, Mrs. Heath can provide no credible evidence that at the time the Heath brothers murdered Michael Sheridan, the defendant was acting under the domination of his brother.

The defendant failed to produce any evidence that at the time of the murder, he acted under the domination of Kenneth Heath. Instead the evidence at trial and at the evidentiary hearing, established that Heath was an integral part, if not the leader, of the planning and the execution of the robbery and murder of Michael Sheridan. San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d

1337, 1348 (Fla. 1997)(affirming the trial court's rejection of the substantial domination mitigator because "the evidence clearly establishes that [San Martin] was an integral part of the planning and execution of these crimes"); Valdes v. State, 626 So. 2d 1316, 1324 (Fla. 1993) (holding the substantial domination mitigator was not established where defendant participated equally in murder, defendant provided the murder weapon, and defendant forced the victim out of the car, where the victim was executed).

Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to produce evidence that did not exist at the time of trial. This claim is **DENIED**.

(PCR Vol. V 593-597).

Before this court, Heath repeats, verbatim, his claim that he presented to the collateral court. (PCR Vol. I 119-120, IB 65-66). Heath avers that trial counsel should have called an expert, such as Dr. Rothschild, who would testify that "it is unlikely Kenneth Heath acted pursuant to the direction of the Defendant". (IB 66). Accordingly, it appears that the gravamen of Heath's claim is not that Kenneth dominated his older brother but that trial counsel was ineffective solely because he did not present evidence to rebut the state's theory that Heath was a dominating force on the night Michael Sheridan died.

Heath's claim should be denied for two reasons. First, Heath cannot demonstrate that counsel's failure to put on this evidence undermines the outcome of this verdict. The trial court did not find in aggravation that Heath dominated his younger brother nor was the jury instructed that Heath's

domination of his younger brother was evidence that it could consider in aggravation. Such a finding or instruction would have been improper because the fact that Heath directed his younger brother during the course of Michael Sheridan is not a statutory aggravator. Accordingly, neither the trial judge nor the jury weighed Heath's domination over his brother in aggravation.

Second, this claim should be denied, because contrary to Heath's allegations, Heath presented no evidence that "it is unlikely that Kenneth Heath acted pursuant to the direction of his brother." (IB 66). Three witnesses' testimony at the evidentiary hearing refute any notion that trial counsel failed to unearth evidence that Ronald Heath was not directing his brother in the robbery and murder of Michael Sheridan.

Kenneth Heath testified at the evidentiary hearing that he and Michael Sheridan started talking at the Purple Porpoise. They talked about baseball. Kenneth told the court that his discussion with Michael Sheridan at the Purple Porpoise was friendly. He had no intention of doing Michael any harm. (PCR-T Vol. V 97).

 $^{^{8}}$ In this sentencing order, the trial court did find that Heath was the dominant force in the robbery and murder of Michael Sheridan. He did not, however, weigh this domination as an aggravator.

Kenneth testified that Heath came over to him and suggested they rob Michael Sheridan. (PCR-T Vol. V 97). He went along with what Heath told him to do. (PCR-T Vol. V 97).

Kenneth testified that when he, Michael, and Heath left the Purple Porpoise, Heath told him where to go. Heath decided where they would take Michael to rob him. En route, Heath saw a turn off that goes into the woods a little way. Heath told Kenneth to pull down that road. Heath told Kenneth how far down the road to drive. (PCR-T Vol. V 59,99).

When they all got out the car, Heath made a motion with his hand, like "do [you] have the gun"? Kenneth told him, no. Kenneth told the collateral court that Heath was "like, get the gun, get the gun." Heath was moving his lips and making gestures to indicate what he wanted Kenneth to do. Kenneth understood that Heath wanted him to get the gun from the car. Kenneth got the gun. (PCR-T Vol. V 61). He got the gun because Heath told him to. (PCR-T Vol. V 99).

When he walked back to the rear of the car, Kenneth pointed the pistol at Michael and told him he was being robbed. Mr. Sheridan thought he was kidding and was moving back and forth in front of Kenneth. Heath started telling Kenneth to "shoot him." (PCR-T Vol. V 65). Kenneth told Michael that he did not want to shoot him and directed Michael to take his wallet out and his jewelry and stuff off. Heath told him again to "shoot him."

(PCR-T Vol. V 65). Kenneth testified that Michael Sheridan lunged at him and he shot him. (PCR-T Vol. V 65). Kenneth thought Michael was going to attack him. (PCR-T Vol. V 66). He did not shoot him because his brother told him to but because Michael lunged at him. (PCR-T Vol. V 66).

After he shot Michael once, Michael Sheridan staggered back and sat down. Heath went up to him and told him to remove his jewelry. Michael was trying but was not doing it. He wasn't really functioning. Heath then removed Michael's necklaces, his watch, and his wallet. He could not find the bracelet the brothers wanted, so Heath told Mr. Sheridan to "give us the bracelet, we'll get you to a hospital, we'll get you some help." Heath then started kicking Michael Sheridan. He kicked him a number of times. (PCR-T Vol. V 100).

Heath then told Kenneth to shoot him again, to make sure he was dead. He did. (PCR-T Vol. V 68). Kenneth Heath shot Michael Sheridan twice more at this brother's direction. (PCR-T Vol. V 107).

Kenneth did not want to leave any witnesses. Heath had talked to him before about not leaving any witnesses. Heath had tried to talk Kenneth into robbing a liquor store before they left Georgia to travel to Gainesville. Heath told Kenneth that all he had to do is go in there and shoot the person working in

the liquor store. Heath told Kenneth that he should not leave any witnesses. (PCR-T Vol. V 71).

The brothers talked about shooting Michael Sheridan to eliminate him as a witness before they even left the Purple Porpoise. (PCR-T Vol. V 71). Kenneth followed Heath's directions on the night of the murder. (PCR-T Vol. V 98).

In addition to his testimony about the murder, Kenneth told the collateral court about his life-long relationship with his brother. He has always been afraid of his brother. (PCR-T Vol. V 108-109). Heath physically abused Kenneth as a child. Heath shot him with a bow and arrow and hurt him a lot. (PCR-T Vol. V 109). His brother was the only person Kenneth was ever afraid of. (PCR-T Vol. V 109-110). Heath sexually abused Kenneth when Kenneth was young. (PCR-T Vol. V 110).

In addition to Kenneth Heath's testimony, Mr. Rush was questioned, at the evidentiary hearing, about why he failed to present evidence that Kenneth Heath actually was the dominant party. (PCR-T Vol. VII 466). Mr. Rush testified that he found no evidence to support such a notion.

Mr. Rush told the collateral court that he found the opposite to be true. Heath was older than Kenny, physically larger, and mentally quicker, more secure. (PCR-T Vol. VII 466). Based on his interactions with both brothers, and Kenny's report of abuse at the hands of his brother, there was no

evidence that Kenneth dominated Ronald Heath. (PCR-T Vol. VII 466).

Finally, Dr. Rothschild testified for Heath on this issue. However, Dr. Rothschild provided no support for Heath's claim that it "unlikely" that Heath dominated Kenneth. Certainly, Dr. Rothschild presented no such testimony.

Instead, Dr. Rothschild told the collateral court that he was asked to determine whether Heath was the dominating figure or was he dominated. (PCR-T Vol. V 177). Dr. Rothschild had no opinion on that issue, in part, because of the discrepancies in the brother's accounts. (PCR-T Vol. V 177). He did, however, believe that Heath was not a person who was easily led by others. (PCR Vol. V 214). Neither of Heath's parents led him to believe that Kenneth dominated Heath in any way. (PCR-T Vol. VI 214).

The trial judge's rejection of this claim is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Heath presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing to support a claim that Kenneth dominated his brother on the night of the murder. Likewise, Heath presented no evidence that trial counsel failed to uncover any evidence that would have refuted the State's theory that Ronald Heath was a dominant force in the planning of both the

⁹ Unlike Mr. Rush, Dr. Rothschild had no personal contact with, and did not interview, Kenneth Heath. (PCR Vol. VI 201).

robbery and murder of Michael Sheridan. Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present evidence that does not exist. This claim should be denied.

F. Unconstitutional doubler

In this sub-claim, Heath alleges trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the "in the course of a felony" aggravator because the same set of facts that support a felony murder conviction also supports a finding of the aggravating factor. Heath alleges that had trial counsel objected, the jury would not have recommended death and the judge would not have imposed the death penalty. (IB 67).

Heath raised this claim in his amended motion for post-conviction relief. The collateral court denied this claim. The court found the claim was procedurally barred and without merit. (PCR Vol. II 204).

Below, and before this Court, Heath complains the "committed in the course of a felony" aggravator impermissibly acts as an automatic aggravator when a defendant is convicted of both first degree murder and an underlying enumerated felony. Heath fails to point to any Florida case law that supports his position.

Improper doubling actually occurs when two separate aggravating factors are found based on the same aspect of the crime. It does not occur when one aggravator is found to exist based on the same facts as supports a conviction for an underlying enumerated felony.

This Court may reject this claim for two reasons. This claim is procedurally barred. A substantive challenge to the constitutionality of the "in the course of an enumerated felony" aggravator may be, and should be, raised on direct appeal. Because Heath failed to do so, this claim is procedurally barred. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 919 n. 8 (Fla. 2000). Heath may not resurrect this barred claim as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79, 82 (Fla.1988) ("[C]ouching a procedurally barred claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel will not revive such a claim.").

This Court may also deny this claim on the merits. This Court has repeatedly, both before and after Heath's capital trial, rejected the notion that the "murder in the course of a felony" aggravator is either automatic or unconstitutional.

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